

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee

State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

8-2021

Self-Reported Health Among Sexual Minorities in the United States

Christopher Burton
East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Gender and Sexuality Commons, Inequality and Stratification Commons, and the Medicine and Health Commons

Recommended Citation

Burton, Christopher, "Self-Reported Health Among Sexual Minorities in the United States" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3931. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3931

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Sociology & Anthropology

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Master of Arts in Sociology

by

Christopher R. Burton

August 2021

Martha Copp, Co-Chair

Joseph O. Baker, Co-Chair

Candace Forbes-Bright

Keywords: LGBTQ+, health disparities, GSS

ABSTRACT

Self-Reported Health Among Sexual Minorities in the United States

by

Christopher R. Burton

Previous literature on LGBTQ+ people (lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning, and other sexual minorities) reports that this community experiences greater health problems than heterosexuals. LGBTQ+ people experience higher rates of chronic conditions, STIs, addiction, poor mental health, and cancer, which highlights the importance of capturing data regarding health. A growing concern is that social surveys fail to find meaningful ways to gather gender and sexuality data to understand possible health disparities for LGBTQ+ people. This study uses data from the General Social Survey to examine the physical and mental health outcomes of LGB people compared to straight people in a nationally representative sample of Americans. An analysis of potential disparities in the self-reported health of straight and LGB respondents finds that respondents who identified as bisexual reported significantly lower levels of self-rated health and more problems with mental health compared to respondents who identified as gay, lesbian, or heterosexual.

Copyright 2021 by Christopher Ray Burton
All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

To my best friend Chopper, without your never-ending love, excitement, and tail wiggles

I would not have made it this far in life. You may be gone but forever you remain in my heart.

I love you always.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I cannot express enough gratitude to my committee for their continuous support and encouragement. Dr. Martha Copp, committee co-chair, thank you for keeping me levelheaded and grounded through this process. If it weren't for you, I'd be balding by now! Dr. Joseph Baker, committee co-chair, thank you for helping me sift through the data and come to a better appreciation of the analysis process in academic research. Finally, Dr. Candace Forbes-Bright, thank you for your advice and expertise with regard to the sociology of health and for driving me to do more. If it were not for you three this thesis would not have seen the light of day.

My sincere thanks to Dr. Kelly Foster whose eagle sharp eyes saw my potential as a sociologist and changed my life for the better by encouraging me to apply to this program.

To my fellow cohort and lifelong friends for reading and rereading and offering me a medium to bounce my ideas off of. Y'all are the best group of friends I could have asked for.

Finally, to my partner, whose constant quick check-ups on me as I toiled away writing kept me encouraged to continue forward. May this thesis be the means for which many doors open for the both of us. I love you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	2
Dedication	4
Acknowledgements	5
List of Tables	7
Chapter 1. Introduction	8
Chapter 2. Literature Review	10
Effect of Stress on the Body	10
LGBTQ+ Stress and Health	11
Health Insurance and Employment	15
Chapter 3. Methodology	19
Data	19
Measures	19
Dependent Variables	19
Independent Variables	19
Analytic Strategy	22
Chapter 4. Findings	23
Bivariate	23
Chapter 5. Conclusion	26
Discussion	26
Limitations	28
References	30
Vita	37

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics	21
Table 2. Cross Tab Between Sexual Identification and Self-Rated Health	23
Table 3. One-Way ANOVA for Health Outcomes and Sexual Orientation	24
Table 4. OLS Regression for Self-Reported Health Measures.	25

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

LGBTQ+ people are more likely to live with various healthcare problems when compared to straight counterparts. For instance, gay and bisexual men are more likely to have gastrointestinal, liver, and kidney problems. Lesbian women are at higher risk for polycystic ovaries, overweight, and more likely to report cervical and breast cancer. Gay men are more likely to be overweight and report anal cancer. Bisexual people are at increased risk for obesity and anal cancer (Zeeman et al. 2019). Finally, the LGBTQ+ community is most often at risk for adverse psychological health problems due to entwined increases in homophobia, transphobia, and other antagonisms that have occurred through time (Rogers 2019).

Members of minority groups experience higher rates of psychological disorders than members of dominant groups. This is especially true for the LGBTQ+ community, but it is important to pay special attention to subgroups of sexual minorities who are marginalized from the rest of the community. For example, transgender people are more likely to deal with mental health problems when compared to lesbian or gay people (Fredriksen-Goldsen 2014). Following transgender people are bisexuals, who on average report worse levels of physical health than any other sexual minority group. Bisexual people are most likely to experience marginalization from members of the LGTQ+ community because bisexuality is seen as an unstable sexual orientation. Furthermore, bisexual people are often ignored from some research data since they can be accidently labeled as straight when in a relationship with a non-same sex significant other (Dyar et al. 2019).

One in five LGBTQ+ people report some form of discrimination committed against them by a medical provider. Transgender people are more likely to report physical victimization by healthcare providers than any other sexual minority group (Kattari and Hasche 2016). This

matches earlier research that found "transgender older adults had significantly higher risk of poor physical health, disability, depressive symptomatology and perceived stress than the nontransgender participants" (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2013: 488).

The heterosexual population has long benefitted from inclusion in medical and genetic research. In contrast it is essential to remember that much less is known about the effects of structural and environmental contexts on health and the roles of social determinants for LGBTQ+ people (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2014). Researchers are exploring whether the current quality of life for LGBTQ+ persons in the United States leads to a shorter lifespan (Begun and Kattari 2016; Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2017; Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2015; Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2014; Ham 2018).

The next chapter explores the theoretical explanations for various healthcare disparities for LGBTQ+ people. The review will focus on factors that may influence accessing health services, stigmas in the healthcare environment, and sociocultural problems that label this population as "other." As increased awareness is brought to this subject, situational awareness will need to switch toward the methods we use to collect and analyze data in the social sciences. This pertains to social surveys and how questions about sexuality and health are worded in order to gather accurate information on the reality of people's health.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Effect of Stress on the Body

Minority stress theory, an extension of stress theory, occurs when "minority and dominant values...conflict with the social environment experienced by minority group members" (Meyer 1995:39). This power dynamic imbalance can lead to a high degree of stress in the day to day lives of minorities (Meyer 1995). While Meyer postulated that minority stress and its negative impacts on the body were limited to mental health, we now understand that stress can impact every aspect of the human body, and is a central theme in theories of health and disease (Slavich 2016). Evidence that stress is involved in the development, continuation, or exacerbation of mental and physical health conditions continues to emerge. Stress has also been identified as playing a key role in accelerated biological aging and a lowered life expectancy (Slavich 2016).

Yaribeygi et al. (2017) found that stress triggers the body to release hormones that trigger our "flight or fight" response and activate our immune system. In short term situations this effect is beneficial for avoiding harms that are a temporary threat to our bodies. In the long term it can lead people to feeling overwhelmed or unable to cope with basic tasks that often have no real threat on our physical being. Beyond our emotional response, our bodies continue to be in this state of "flight or fight." Prolonged periods consume massive amounts of energy; long-term exposure to stress hormones can lead to detrimental health outcomes (Yaribeygi et al. 2017).

Stress itself is a highly personal experience that can be caused by any number of inward or outward influences on the body and mind. Loneliness, for example, is a source of acute and chronic stress (Mushtaq et al. 2014). Loneliness is defined by feelings of dejection associated with isolation that persist even with company (Valtorta et al. 2016). Researchers have found that

increased rates of isolation and loneliness can result in an increased risk for cardiovascular accident or even stroke (Valtorta et al. 2016). Furthermore, increased periods of time where one is consistently alone are directly correlated with an increased risk for cardiovascular disease (Hegeman et al. 2017). However, it should be noted that future research needs to determine if reducing feelings of loneliness will decrease those risk factors (Valtorta et al. 2016).

Some studies indicate that the body and specifically the central nervous system can undergo structural changes (atrophy of the brain was most commonly seen) that may not revert to normal once stress is reduced. These changes can affect a person's memory, their immune response, their cognition, their cardiovascular system, their gastrointestinal system, and their endocrine system. Several dozen potential diseases can occur from any one of these bodily systems becoming dysfunctional (Yaribeygi et al. 2017).

LGBTQ+ Stress and Health

LGBTQ+ persons have higher risk factors for loneliness, which are heightened as they get older and are more likely to experience widowing, ageism, weak family ties, and consequently weak social support systems (Browne and Nash 2016; de Vries and Croghan 2014). Social support systems are defined as interpersonal bonds that helps satisfy some need(s) in the lives of those who are connected, ultimately maintaining a higher quality of life. Older LGBTQ+ people are three times more likely to live alone and four times less likely to have children than heterosexual individuals (Orel 2017).

Most gerontological research on family and social support networks has ignored sexual minorities, and consequently, the impact that being "out" has on their family-based social support systems is poorly understood. This research leaves a critical hole in our understanding of LGBTQ+ health because there is a strong association between social support networks and the

physical and mental well-being of patients of advanced age (Orel 2017). Older LGB adults are more likely to have limitations on their physical and mental health when compared to heterosexuals in similar age groups. By extension, older transgender adults are more likely to have a disability, poor physical health, and depression when compared to other LGB adults (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2014).

As minorities, LGBTQ+ people tend to have experienced a lifetime of social, political, and economic strains that can prevent them from ever fully coming "out of the closet" or being open in specific spaces (de Vries & Croghan 2014). This midlife to elderly group were young adults during the AIDS pandemic, a time of heightened sociopolitical activation for sexual minorities (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2014). Their cohort is often referred to as the "Lost Generation" within the LGBTQ+ community. From 1981 to 2000, 448,060 people died of AIDS (Centers for Disease Control 2001). AIDS reshaped many aspects of society; the initial pandemic transformed cultural, interpersonal, and institutional life in unprecedented ways (Nelkin, Willis, and Parris 1990). AIDS also influenced social research on the LGBTQ population, as people were previously unwilling to announce their sexuality due to social constrictions created by public and government response to the pandemic (Nelkin et al. 1990).

The AIDS pandemic in particular may explain why fear of discrimination and the suspicion that discrimination might occur in the healthcare setting is more common in LGBTQ+ populations than in heterosexual populations (Jackson, Johnson, and Roberts 2008). Another important factor predates the pandemic and contributes to the cumulative harm of discrimination, persecution, and abuse against LGBTQ+ people: The medical community's contention, until 1973, that homosexuality was a mental health condition. Decades after that discriminatory classification officially ended, some doctors have continued to stigmatize LGBTQ+ patients.

Under the pretense of religious freedom, a plethora of anti-LGBTQ+ laws have come into effect in recent years allowing physicians to deny medical services to anyone identifying as a sexual minority (Wang, Geffen, and Cahill 2016). These legislative moves threaten to worsen discrimination that sexual minority groups already face. Some laws go so far as to exempt physicians from offering lifesaving medical interventions if it goes against their religious moral code. "As a result, these laws inflict both material harm and dignitary harm--harms that exacerbate stigma and marginalization and reduce social status on other citizens" (Wang et al. 2016:1).

The literature on healthcare microaggressions notes a troubling trend in which 10 percent of LGB and 21 percent of transgender patients experience harsh or abusive language from their providers. While not every patient may experience such overt forms of aggression, practicing medicine with a heteronormative mindset creates an environment where LGBTQ+ people can feel unwelcomed (Rossman, Salamanca, and Macapagal 2017). In one study, 40 precent of participants feared accessing healthcare services due to the potential for experiencing discrimination (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2013). Because of the possibility of microaggressions or discriminatory laws, some LGBTQ+ patients may decide not to disclose their sexual or gender identity. This problem increases for older LGBTQ+ people; de Vries and Croghan (2014) found that older lesbians were more hesitant to reveal their sexual orientation to healthcare providers than older gay men. Although not revealing one's sexual or gender orientation may offer situational protection during a healthcare encounter, keeping this information private may lead to adverse health outcomes for patients.

There are nearly 30 million LGBTQ+ persons in the United States, with 2.4 million over the age of 50, which will increase to over 5 million in the next couple of decades (Fedriksen-

Goldsen et al. 2014: Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2015). It is well known that the growing population over age 65 will impact the United States medical care system by 2024 (Mitchell 2014). This growing population also includes aging LGBTQ+ people who are still exploring and defining their sexual identity while wanting to remain sexually active as long as they physically can (Browne and Nash 2016). With the aging population rapidly increasing, our healthcare system is not ready to support this soon-to-be patient population as a whole, leading many to speculate that minority senior citizens will suffer disproportionately worse health than non-minority senior citizens (Mitchell 2014).

Due to these multiplying factors, over 80 percent of older LGBTQ+ people report feeling that they are incapable of being "out" within long term care facilities such as nursing homes or rehab centers (Justice in Aging 2015). In other research, 53 precent of LGBTQ+ individuals felt that current geriatric services do not meet the needs of the LGBTQ+ community. In the same study "42 percent [of older respondents] reported negative experiences with healthcare attributable to sexual orientation and gender identity" (de Vries and Croghan 2014: 12).

Some research finds that LGBTQ+ adults report some of the highest rates of life satisfaction and feel they are aging successfully when compared to heterosexual people (Fredriksen-Goldsen 2011). A full dive into this reporting, however, cannot be achieved as LGBTQ+ adults are also at increased risk of being overlooked in sociological research due to the assumption that their sexual identities are already matured and unchanging (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2017). The idea that sexuality is fixed as we age is in direct contrast with other research, which postulates that our identities evolve through our entire life course (Browne and Nash 2016). A key drawback when researching the LGBTQ+ population, especially the older members of this group, is the heterosexism that pervades the current sociological research model and

ignores the need for 'queering' the research (Seidman 1994). Sociological research has increased its queerness when studying queer related issues, but, even today, certain sexual and gender minorities such as transgender, pansexual, and asexual people are still relatively absent in study populations (Pfeffer 2014).

Health Insurance and Employment

Another influence on LGBTQ+ health is access to health insurance and its association, in the United States, with employment. In the United States, having a job allows many people to have access to healthcare, thanks in part to the employment-contingent health insurance system, which has been in place since the end of World War II (Bradley, Neumark, and Motika 2012). Access to health insurance continues to be problematic despite the creation of the Affordable Healthcare Act (ACA) by the Obama administration in 2011 (JAMA 2011). A key goal of the ACA is to remove the employment restrictions to health insurance access and provide continuous coverage to individuals diagnosed with a chronic or serious disease. This eliminates the job lock, which traps people in full-time employment despite illness and disease (Bradley et al. 2012). Many people who cannot keep their jobs pay out of pocket and file bankruptcy when unexpected adverse life events occur (JAMA 2011).

Legal protections against LGBTQ+ employment discrimination are limited. Since 2018 only eighteen states plus the District of Columbia had full employee protections to prevent an individual from being fired for their sexuality (Ham 2018). Other states have some protections in place, but they often only cover state employees or only cover sexual orientation or gender identity, not both (Ham 2018). Compounding this factor, very few states have enacted policies that guarantee healthcare services to LGBTQ+ people. Advocates report that 45 percent of the LGBTQ+ population lives in states without inclusive insurance protections, 43 percent live in

states that prohibit transgender health insurance coverage, 46 percent live in states that deny Medicaid coverage for gender affirmation surgery, and 62 percent of LGBTQ+ people live in states without inclusive benefits built into their state employment benefits (Movement Advancement Project 2021).

In the U.S. employment status is directly tied to having insurance. Further, there are far more LGBTQ+ people who do not have insurance than heterosexual people (Gates 2014). This is compounded when multiple minority identities stack; for example, sexual minority women and sexual minority people of color are more likely than their heterosexual counterparts to be jobless and ultimately without health insurance (Charlton et al. 2018). Job discrimination based on one's sexuality thus can directly impact healthcare outcomes and quality of life for this community.

LGBTQ+ adults are at a significantly higher risk of not having the money to cover healthcare-related expenses. Up to a quarter of the LGBTQ+ population (approximately 7.5 million people) do not have enough money to cover emergency medical and preventative medical needs (Gates 2014). Finally, it should be noted that while this writing examines the entire LGBTQ+ spectrum, bisexual people, specifically bisexual women, are more likely to be uninsured and have compounding health problems than any other sexual minority subgroup (Charlton et al. 2018).

Once a person's sexual identity becomes known to employers, there arises a risk of discrimination and employment termination (Ham 2018). Several contradictory court rulings have gone into effect, making it difficult to understand what sexual discrimination is and is not. An even grayer area concerns employers who fire employees because they oppose their minority sexual and or gender identity (Ham 2018). Such is the case in *Mickens v. General Electric CO* (2016) in which a federal judge ruled that GE was not in violation of sex discrimination laws

after denying a female to male (FtM) transgender employee the ability to use the men's restroom, requiring the individual to leave his primary area of work in order to use the women's restroom (Ham 2018).

Sexual and gender discrimination stances shifted after the Supreme Court's ruling in Obergefell v. Hodges (2015) which stated that marriage is a fundamental right for same-sex couples, granting them the legal right to marry across the US. That ruling paved the way for the Supreme Court to issue a series of groundbreaking rulings in the cases Bostock v. Clayton County, Georgia (2020); R.G. & G.R. Harris Funeral Homes Inc. v. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (2020); and Altitude Express, Inc. v. Zarda (2020). In 6-3 rulings for each case, the court concluded that Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 protects employees against discrimination for being gay or transgender; that Title VII protects transgender people from employment discrimination; and that Title VII protected employees from discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity, respectively. The Supreme Court's rulings, however, only go so far to offer protections to LGBTQ+ people. To solidify this into national law, a group of congresspeople created H.R.5-Equality Act. This bill is designed to strengthen the protections of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and make discrimination based on sexual or gender orientation illegal nationwide.

Minority stress is integral to the LGBTQ+ experience especially when it comes to accessing healthcare services. The consensus in the existing literature is that LGBTQ+ people's health outcomes are significantly worse health than for straight people. In the analysis that follows, I examine data from a nationally representative survey, the General Social Survey (GSS), to see if it supports the pattern of adverse physical and mental health for LGBTQ+ people. The GSS was utilized since it has been defined as the "gold standard" of social surveys

by the Consortium of Social Science Associations (Silver 2011; Silver 2013). The GSS implements free and easy access to its survey data which is utilized by thousands of scholars not just in the United States but around the world. Because of the quality of the work GSS produces it can be used to investigate any number of research interests.

My expectation is that data from this robust survey should show that LGB people are more likely to report poor quality of health than straight people. While the GSS offers a plethora of questions to examine health and wellbeing, this study focuses primarily on physical and mental health using variables for respondents' overall self-reported health, days of poor physical health, and days of poor mental health.

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

Data

The My study is based on cumulative General Social Survey (GSS) data collected from 2008 to 2018. In 2008, the GSS added a question on sexual orientation to its demographic inventory. The GSS, a nationally representative survey of adults in the United States is conducted in person every other year under the auspices of the University of Chicago's National Opinion Research Center. It is available to the public and aims to be "the single best source for sociological and attitudinal trend data covering the United States" (NORC 2021:1).

Measures

Dependent Variables

A total of three dependent variables were analyzed to assess a person's overall self-reported health. Two variables assessed frequency of health-related problems directed towards how often in the past 30 days have respondents experienced: 1) days of poor physical health (M = 2.68, SD = 6.29); 2) days of poor mental health (M = 3.71, SD = 7.13). Response choices to these health-related questions were measured in days ranging from 0 to 30 days. Self-reported condition of health (M = 2.4, SD = 1.03) asked respondents "would you say that in general your health is (1) Excellent, (2) Very-Good, (3) Good, (4) Fair, or (5) Poor?"

Independent Variables

The key variable in this study is sexual orientation, asked in the GSS as "which of the following best describes you" with answers as (1) Gay, Lesbian, or Homosexual, (2) Bisexual, (3) Heterosexual or straight, (8) Don't know.

Gay, Lesbian, or Homosexual (M = .019, SD = .138), were recoded into Gay or Lesbian, following traditional community guidelines for acceptable terminology used in sexual

identification. Bisexual (M = .025, SD = .157), was left as-is, and Heterosexual or straight (M = .95, SD = .207), were recoded into Straight. Those who responded "don't know" were coded as missing.

Several control variables were assessed to account for any sociodemographic differences that may influence the relationship between sexual orientation and self-reported health. Race is measured as categorical with white (reference category) (M = .744, SD = .436), and dummy variables for Black (M = .156, SD = .363) and other races (M = .0994, SD = .299). Gender (M = 0.55, SD = 0.49) is measured as either male or female. Age (M = 48.57, SD = 17.65) is measured in an interval/ratio scale in years. Education (M = 13.61, SD = 3.05) is measured on an ordinal scale of years of schooling completed. Total household family income is reported in constant dollars to account for changes over time (M = 34,923.03, SD = 30,956.17). As a proxy for measuring access to health insurance, employment was recoded into a dummy variable for full time employment (M = 0.47, SD = 0.5).

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics

Variables	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Health Measures				
Self-Reported Health	2.4	1.033	1	5
Days of poor physical health	2.68	6.292	0	30
Days of poor mental health	3.71	7.131	0	30
Demographics				
Gay or Lesbian	.019	.138	0	1
Bisexual	.025	.157	0	1
Straight	.95	.207	0	1
Respondent's sex	0.55	0.497	0	1
Age of respondent	48.57	17.658	18	89
Highest year of school completed	13.61	3.056	0	20
Total family income	34,923.03	30,956.17	227	162,607
Full Time	0.4725	0.49926	0	1
White	.7445	.43618	0	1
Black	.1562	.36302	0	1
Other races	.0994	.2992	0	0

Analytic Strategy

Preliminary Analysis

For bivariate analysis between sexual orientation and self-rated health I ran a contingency table between these variables and their expected values under the initial hypothesis of statistical independence.

Bivariate analysis continues with an ANOVA examining the relationship between reported days of poor physical and days of poor mental health for sexual minorities. This examined mean differences between the two dependent variables assessing health related outcomes and sexual orientation identification.

Finally, OLS models were created to determine health outcomes based on sexual orientation identification while placing control measures for other essential sociodemographic influences.

CHAPTER 4. FINDINGS

Bivariate

Table 2 shows the crosstab between sexual identification and self-rated health. The chi-square test shows that there is a significant relationship between sexual orientation and self-rated health. Gay and lesbian respondents were the most likely to say their health was excellent (34.2%), compared to 26.5% of straight respondents and only 20.1% of bisexual respondents.

Table 2. Cross Tab Between Sexual Identification and Self-Rated Health

Health Measures	Gay or Lesbian	Bisexual	Straight
Poor	.056	.059	.050
Fair	.177	.253	.201
Good	.424	.487	.483
Excellent	.342	.201	.265

Person Chi-Square: 15.712; p=.015

Table 3 represents a one-way ANOVA analyzing differences of health outcomes for days of poor physical and mental health by sexual orientation. There are two statistically significant findings between bisexuals and gay/lesbian and straight people on reported days of poor physical health (F = 2.6, p < .1) and poor mental health (F = 12.49, p < .001) respectively. A Tukey post-hoc test showed no significant difference between sexual minority groups regarding poor physical health. For mental health, bisexual respondents reported significantly more days with mental health problems in the past month (6.6) compared to both gay and lesbian respondents (4.8) and straight respondents (3.6).

Table 3. One-Way ANOVA for Health Outcomes and Sexual Orientation

Variables	Gay or Lesbian	Bisexual	Straight	F
Number of Poor Physical Health Days	2.78	3.78	2.6	2.6
Number of Poor Mental Health Days	4.81	6.6 ^{ab}	3.59	24.02***

Sig at p<0.001***

Table 4 presents self-rated health, poor physical health over the past 30 days, and poor mental health over the past 30 days. After controlling for all sociodemographic variables, the model shows that bisexual people have significant differences between their straight counterparts when examining self-rated health (b = 0.035, p<.05) and poor mental health (b = 0.043, p<.01). The model further indicates that gay and lesbian people do not have significant differences in their overall health. Women are more likely to report a higher number of days with physical and mental health problems, but are not significantly different on self-rated health. Age, income, and education all play key roles in determining an individual's overall health. Race has a significant impact on mental health, with Black respondents less likely to report mental health problems, but race has non-significant impacts on the other two outcomes.

a: Sig Difference from Straight at p<.05

b: Sig Difference from Gay/Lesbian at p<.05

Table 4. OLS Regression for Self-Reported Health Measures

Variables	Self-Rated Health	Poor Physical Health	Poor Mental Health
Gay or Lesbian ^a	048	.621	1.060
Bisexuala	.200**	1.060	2.006**
Sex	042	.504*	.648***
Age	.007***	.027	025***
Income ^b	003***	011***	010***
Education	047***	151***	155***
Full Time ^c	161***	-1.190***	602**
Black ^d	.003	579	-1.040***
Other races ^d	.016	224	410
Model Stats			
Constant	2.680	4.188	7.480
N	5992	2948	4844
R2	.110	.026	.033

a: Ref group is straight b: Coefficient was multiplied by 1000

c: Ref group is unemployed

d: Ref group is white *p<0.05, **p<0.01, p<0.001***

CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION

Discussion

In studying the sociology of health, we must consider some of the social determinants of health, particularly for social minorities. Although 23.3 percent of lesbian and gay people reported fair or poor quality of health, the majority were not at a significantly elevated risk of living with poor physical health in these data. The OLS regression indicates that gay and lesbian people are not significantly more likely to report differences in their overall health compared to straight people. The result of this non-finding was surprising. Given the body research on health disparities for the LGBTQ+ community, a non-finding of this nature was initially considered unlikely. Sex, age, income, and education all played significant roles in determining health status, but not identifying as gay or lesbian.

When accounting for mental health, which included stress, depression, and problems with emotions, bisexual people were more likely than lesbian and gay people to report more days of poor mental health. After controlling for sociodemographic variables, a significant difference was found between bisexual and straight individuals on self-reported health measures and poor mental health. Although not measured directly, a possible driver of this finding could be respondents' degree of social integration. Bisexuals in this study were less likely to possess conventional forms of social capital (e.g., higher education and income) and elsewhere they express less investment in LGBTQ+ subculture (Pew Research Center 2015). A reduced sense of belonging, either through achieving conventional social status or identifying with a subcultural community, could help explain why bisexual individuals reported experiencing poorer quality of mental and overall health. Bisexual people are more likely to lack a sense of identity acceptance and less likely to be out to important people in their lives, including physicians who may mistake

bisexual people as straight (Pew Research Center 2015). From a deviance perspective, bisexuals occupy a marginalized position in contrast to heterosexual people and lesbian and gay subcultures. If one applied Bader and Baker's (2019) theoretical framework for understanding deviance, bisexuals would more likely be in the "drifter" category. Drifters have higher levels of suicidal ideation, substance use, and more extensive histories of violent victimization (Bader and Baker 2019). Low social support and lack of community might help explain the disparities in health outcomes for people who identify as bisexual in my research. A reduced sense of community and belonging could have a major impact on personal mental wellbeing (such as increased loneliness), which could amplify negative physical health conditions.

This study's finding of no significant disparities between lesbians and gay men's self-reports and straight respondents' may be due to the use of the GSS instead of a survey that is dedicated to behavioral health and general health measures. There are some shortcomings in the GSS that may help explain why the results here differ from literature. The GSS, like other large-scale surveys, tends to rely on a one-dimensional definition regarding sexual orientation, treats sexual minorities as a homogenous group, and fails to account for intersectionality (Dyar et al. 2019). For the question regarding sexual orientation— "which of the following best describes you?"—respondents must choose from 1) Gay, Lesbian or Homosexual; 2) Bisexual; 3) Heterosexual or straight, or 4) don't know. The first answer assumes lesbians and gay people are similar and misses an opportunity to capture a larger sample of sexual minorities. It also uses outdated terminology by including "homosexual," a word that has been described for decades in the United States as being connected to a horrible sin, or a psychological condition that needs treatment (Edsall 2003). The use of this terminology could cause people to answer dishonestly

regarding their sexual orientation. A statement by Dyar, et al. (2019:226) summarizes this critical point:

How researchers define sexual orientation is important and can lead to meaningful differences in study findings. Thus, it is critical to inclusively examine health disparities across all dimensions of sexual orientation to develop a more complete understanding of the physical health disparities affecting sexual minorities.

That the GSS offers a cross-sectional survey of the United States population but uses a smaller overall sample size than other surveys may also explain the unexpected findings. This strategy makes assessing patterns within subgroups more difficult. Also, the GSS does not utilize newer methods in cross-sectional survey design. Given the complexity of assessing and measuring health, the GSS may not be best equipped to capture multidimensional physical and behavioral health data.

The small sample size might explain why patterns in the literature on LGBTQ+ health were not found in this study. While many researchers report that the LGTBQ+ community may be at higher risk for mental health disorders, sexually transmitted infections, substance use and abuse, obesity, heart disease, and cervical and breast cancers, this does not mean that every LGBTQ+ person will face these problems. Throughout the life course there will be people who do not encounter such health problems. Their comparatively good physical and mental health may be in part due to other social conditions.

Limitations

As I mentioned above, this study is limited in size, with 231 respondents identified as gay or lesbian and 273 respondents identified as bisexual. Future research could utilize data from

more up-to-date versions of the GSS if the survey expands options for sexual orientation and gender identity. Ideally, data from other major surveys could provide a useful comparison to this research. A further study limitation comes from self-rated measures of health. While some studies have found that these reports are increasingly valid, they fail to capture a pathophysiological assessment of health measures (Schnittker and Bacak 2014). Future studies could also analyze what protective factors might be at play in shielding gay, lesbian, and bisexual people from negative health outcomes.

Further complicating this study is the lack of transgender participants, a group besieged with health-related problems that was not included in the GSS until recently. In 32 years of surveying, the GSS only started asking about transgender identity in 2018 on ballots B and C. In those ballots, 939 people responded to the question regarding transgender identity with choices limited to: 1) Woman, 2) Man, 3) Transgender 4) A gender not listed here. This measure comes with limited research application and is likely to impede sociological analysis of disparities between transmen, and transwomen, their cisgender counterparts, and people who identify as nonbinary.

A key recommendation from this study is for qualitative research on LGBTQ+ people's mental and physical health that also asks them to discuss their resources for social support. The stronger the social network, the less one is likely to suffer from loneliness. A study employing mixed methods and social network analysis would be an ideal way to address the strength of LGBTQ+ people's relationships in networks; qualitative questions could help gauge the durability or instability of those social relationships and explore possible consequences.

REFERENCES

- Altitude Express, Inc. v. Zarda, 590 U.S. 17-1623 (2020)
- United Health Foundation. 2017. America's Health Rankings Annual Report.

 https://www.americashealthrankings.org/learn/reports/2017-annual-report
- Bader, Christopher D. and Joseph O. Baker. 2019. *Deviance Management: Insiders, Outsiders, Hiders and Drifters*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Begun, Stephanie, and Shanna Kattari. 2016. "Conforming for survival: Associations between transgender visual conformity/passing and homelessness experiences." *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services* 28:54–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538720.2016.1125821
- Bostock v. Clayton County, Georgia, 590 U.S. 17-1618 (2020)
- Bradley J. Cathy, David Neumark, and Meryl Motika. 2012. "The effects of health shocks on employment and health insurance: the role of employer-provided health insurance." *International Journal of Health Care Finance and Economics* 12(4):253–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10754-012-9113-2
- Browne, K., and J. C. Nash. 2016. "Queer Methods and Queer Practices: Re-examining the Identities of older lesbian, Gay, Bisexual Adults." Pp. 85-96 in *Queer Methods and Methodologies: Intersecting Queer Theories and Social Science Research*. London, UK: Routledge.
- Centers for Disease Control. 2001. "HIV and AIDS—United States, 1981–2000." https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5021a2.htm
- Charlton, B., Allegra R. Gordon, Sari L. Reisner, Vishnudas Sarda, Mihail Samnaliev, and Bryn S. Austin. 2018. "Sexual orientation-related disparities in employment, health insurance, healthcare access and health related quality of life: a cohort study of US male and female

- adolescents and young adults." *BMJ Open* 8(6):e020418–e020418. https://dx.doi.org/10.1136%2Fbmjopen-2017-020418
- de Vries, Brian, & Catherine F. Croghan. 2014. "LGBT Aging: The Contributions of Community-Based research." *Journal of Homosexuality* 61:1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2013.834794
- Dyar, Christina, Tenile C. Taggart, Craig Rodriguez-Seijas, Ronald G. Thompson Jr, Jennifer C.
 Elliott, Deborah S. Hasin, and Nicholas R. Eaton. 2019. "Physical Health Disparities
 Across Dimensions of Sexual Orientation, Race/Ethnicity, and Sex: Evidence for
 Increased Risk Among Bisexual Adults." Archives of Sexual Behavior 48(1):225-242.
 Doi:10.1007/s10508-018-1169-8
- Edsall, N. 2003. *Toward Stonewall: Homosexuality and Society in the Modern Western World*.

 Charlottesville, VA: University of Virginia Press.
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen. 2011. "Resilience and Disparities among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Older Adults." *The Public Policy and Aging Report* 21(3):3-7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/21.3.3
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen, I. Loree Cook-Daniels, Hyun-Jun Kim, Elena A. Erosheva, Charles A. Emlet, Charles P. Hoy-Ellis, Jayn Goldsen, and Anna Muraco. 2013. "Physical and Mental Health of Transgender Older Adults: An At-Risk and Underserved Population." *The Gerontologist* 54(3):488–500. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnt021
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen, Jane M. Simoni, Hyun-Jun Kim, Keren Lehavot, Karina L.

 Walkters, Joyce Yang, and Charles P. Hoy-Ellis. 2014. "The Health Equity Promotion

 Model: Reconceptualization of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT) Health

- Disparities." *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 84:653–663. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000030
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen, Hyun-Jun Kim, Chengshi Shiu, Jayn Goldsen, and Charles A. Emlet.

 2015. "Successful Aging Among LGBT Older Adults: Physical and Mental HealthRelated Quality of Life by Age Group." *The Gerontologist* 55:154–168.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnu081
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen, Hyun-Jun Kim, Amanda E. B. Bryan, Chengshi Shiu, and Charles A. Emlet. 2017. "The Cascading Effects of Marginalization and Pathways of Resilience in Attaining Good Health Among LGBT Older Adults." *The Gerontologist* 57:72–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw170
- Gates, G. 2014. "In U.S., LGBT More Likely Than Non-LGBT to Be Uninsured." Retrieved November 11, 2020 (http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/4tq0x1b1)
- Ham, J. 2018. "Wrongful Termi(GAY)tion: A Comparative Analysis of Employment Non-Discrimination Laws and LGBTQ+ Workplace Protection in South Africa and the United States." *Cornell Law Review* 104:233–285
- Hegeman, Annette, Natasja Schutter, Hannie Comijs, Tjalling Holwerda, Jack Dekker, Max Stek, and Roos van der Mast. 2017. "Loneliness and cardiovascular disease and the role of late-life depression." *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 33(1):65-72. https://doi:10.1002/gps.4716
- Jackson, Nick. Michael J Johnson, and Roe Roberts. 2008. "The Potential Impact of
 Discrimination Fears of Older Gays, Lesbians, Bisexuals and Transgender Individuals
 Living in Small- to Moderate-Sized Cities on Long-Term Health Care." *Journal of Homosexuality* 54:325–339. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918360801982298

- Justice in Aging: LGBT Older Adults in Lon-Term Care Facilities. 2015. Retrieved February 7, 2021 (https://www.justiceinaging.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Stories-from-the-Field.pdf)
- Kattari, Shanna, and Leslie Hasche. 2016. "Differences Across Age Groups in Transgender and Gender Non-Conforming People's Experiences of Health Care Discrimination,

 Harassment, and Victimization." *Journal of Aging and Health* 28:285–306.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264315590228
- Meyer, I. 1995. "Minority Stress and Mental Health in Gay Men." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 36(1):38-56.
- Mitchell, Glen W. 2014. "The Silver Tsunami." *American College of Physician Executive*. 2014 40(4):34-38. Retrieved January 27, 2021 (https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25188977/)
- Movement Advancement Project, 2021. Snapshot: LGBTQ Equality by State. Retrieved Feburary 19, 2021. (https://www.lgbtmap.org/equality-maps)
- Mushtaq, Raheel, Sheikh Shoib, Tabindah Shah, and Sahil Mushtaq. 2014. "Relationship Between Loneliness, Psychiatric Disorders and Physical Health." *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research* 8(9):1-4.
- Mykel Mickens v. General Electric Company Civil Action No. 3:16CV-00603-JHM (2016).
- Nelkin Dorothy, David P. Willis, and Scott V. Parris. 1990. "A disease of society: cultural responses to AIDS" (Part 1). *The Milbank Quarterly* 68(1):1-9.
- NORC 2021. "About the GSS." Retrieved May 28, 2021 http://gss.norc.org/About-The-GSS
- Obergefell et al., v. Hodges, Directory, Ohio Department of Health, et al. No 14-556 2015
- Orel, Nancy A. 2017. "Families and Support Systems of LGBT Elders." *Annual Review of Gerontology & Geriatrics* 37:89–109. https://doi.org/10.1891/0198-8794.37.89

- Palmieri, J. J., and T.A. Stern. 2009. "Lies in The Doctor-Patient Relationship." *Primary Care Companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry* 11(4):163–168. https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.09r00780
- Plant, R. 2011. *The Pink Triangle: The Nazi War Against Homosexuals*. New York City, NY: Henry Holt and Company.
- Pew Research Center. 2015. "Among LGBT Americans, Bisexuals Stand Out When it Comes to Identity, Acceptance." Washington D.C. Retrieved May 26, 2021

 (https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/02/20/among-lgbt-americans-bisexuals-stand-out-when-it-comes-to-identity-acceptance/)
- Pfeffer, C. 2014. "'I Don't Like Passing as a Straight Woman': Queer Negotiations of Identity and Social Group Membership." *The American Journal of Sociology* 120:1-44. http://search.proquest.com/docview1644166193/
- R.G. & G.R. Harris Funeral Homes Inc. v. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 2020 590, U.S. 18-107
- Rogers, B. 2019. "Contrary to All the Other Shit I've Said': Trans Men Passing in the South." *Qualitative Sociology* 42(4): 639–662. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-09436-w
- Rossman, Kinton, Paul Salamanca, and Kathryn Macapagal. 2017. "A Qualitative Study

 Examining Young Adults' Experiences of Disclosure and Nondisclosure of LGBTQ

 Identity to Health Care Providers." *Journal of Homosexuality* 64(10):1390-1410.
- Schnittker, Jason, and Valerio Bacak. 2014. "The Increasing Predictive Validity of Self-Rated Health." *Public Library of Science* 9(1):1-11. https://doi.org/10.137/journal.pone/0084933

- Seidman, S. 1994. "Queer-Ing Sociology, Sociologizing Queer Theory: An Introduction." *Sociological Theory* 12(2):166-177. doi:10.2307/201862
- Slavich, George M. 2016. "Life Stress and Health: A Review of Conceptual Issues and Recent Findings." *Teaching of Psychology* 43(4):346-355.
- Silver, Howard. 2011. "Testimony of COSSA to the House Commerce, Justice, Science Subcommittee, House Apportions Committee." Honorable Frank Wolf, Chairman.
- Silver, Howard. 2014. "Testimony of COSSA to the House Commerce, Justice, Science Subcommittee, House Apportions Committee." Honorable Frank Wolf, Chairman.
- Valtorta, Nicole, Mona Kanaan, Simon Gilbody, Sara Ronzi, and Barbara Hanratty. 2016.

 "Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke:

 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Observational Studies." *Heart*102:1009-1016. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2015-308790
- Wang, T, Sophia Geffen, and Sean Cahill. 2016. "The Current Wave of Anti-LGBT Legislation." Boston, MA: Retrieved February 24th, 2021 (https://fenwayhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Fenway-Institute-Religious-Exemption-Brief-June-2016.pdf)
- Yaribeygi Habib, Yunes Panahi, Hedayat Sahraei, Thomas P. Johnson, and Amirhossein Sahebkar. 2017. "The Impact of Stress on Body Function: A Review." *EXCLI journal* 16:1057–1072. https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2017-480
- Zeeman Laetitia, Nigel Sherriff, Kath Browne, Nick McGlynn, Massimo Mirandola, Lorenzo Gios, Ruth Davis, Juliette Sanchez-Lambert, Sophie Aujean, Nuno Pinto, Francesco Farinella, Valeria Donisi, Marta Niedzwiedzka-Stadnik, Magdalena Rosinska, Anne Pierson, and Francesco Amaddeo. 2019. "A Review of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and

Intersex (LGBTI) Health and Healthcare Inequalities." *European Journal of Public Health* 29(5):974–980. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cky226

VITA

CHRISTOPHER R. BURTON

Education: M.A. Sociology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City,

Tennessee, 2021

B.A. Interdisciplinary Studies, East Tennessee State University,

Johnson City, Tennessee, 2019

Public Schools, Erwin, Tennessee

Professional Experience: Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, College of

Arts and Sciences, Department of Sociology and

Anthropology 2019-2020

Teaching Associate, East Tennessee State University, College of

Arts and Sciences, Department of Sociology and

Anthropology, 2020-2021

Publications: Candace, Forbes-Bright, Burton, Christopher, Kosky, Madison.

(2020). "Considerations of the impacts of COVID-19 on

domestic violence in the United States." Social Science &

Humanities Open.

Memberships: American Association for the Advancement of Science

American Sociological Association

American Association for Public Opinion Research

Sigma Alpha Pi National Honor Society

Sigma Alpha Lambda National Leadership & Honors Society